
 

1 

 
 
HOUSING APPEALS AND REVIEW PANEL 
Wednesday, 12th March, 2008 
 
Place: Civic Offices, High Street, Epping 
  
Room: Committee Room 1 
  
Time: 2.30 pm 
  
Democratic Services 
Officer 

Graham Lunnun, Research and Democratic Services 
Tel: 01992 564244 Email: glunnun@eppingforestdc.gov.uk 
 

 
Members: 
 
Councillors Mrs P K Rush (Chairman), Mrs R Gadsby (Vice-Chairman), R D'Souza, 
Mrs P Richardson and J Wyatt 
 
 
 
 
 

 1. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE   
 

 2. MINUTES  (Pages 5 - 30) 
 

  To agree the minutes of the meetings of the Panel held on 17 January and 29 January 
2008 (attached). 
 

 3. SUBSTITUTE MEMBERS   
 

  (Assistant to the Chief Executive) To report the attendance of any substitute members 
for the meeting. 
 

 4. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST   
 

  To declare interests in any item on the agenda. 
 

 



Housing Appeals and Review Panel Wednesday, 12 March 2008 
 

2 

 5. EXCLUSION OF PUBLIC AND PRESS   
 

  Exclusion: To consider whether, under Section 100(A)(4) of the Local Government 
Act 1972, the public and press should be excluded from the meeting for the items of 
business set out below on grounds that they will involve the likely disclosure of exempt 
information as defined in the following paragraph(s) of Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the 
Act (as amended) or are confidential under Section 100(A)(2): 
 

Agenda Item No Subject Exempt Information 
Paragraph Number 

6 Appeal No. 2/2008 1 and 2 
 
The Local Government (Access to Information) (Variation) Order 2006, which came 
into effect on 1 March 2006, requires the Council to consider whether maintaining the 
exemption listed above outweighs the potential public interest in disclosing the 
information. Any member who considers that this test should be applied to any 
currently exempted matter on this agenda should contact the proper officer at least 24 
hours prior to the meeting. 
 
Confidential Items Commencement: Paragraph 9 of the Council Procedure Rules 
contained in the Constitution require: 
 
(1) All business of the Council requiring to be transacted in the presence of the 

press and public to be completed by 10.00 p.m. at the latest. 
 
(2) At the time appointed under (1) above, the Chairman shall permit the 

completion of debate on any item still under consideration, and at his or her 
discretion, any other remaining business whereupon the Council shall proceed 
to exclude the public and press. 

 
(3) Any public business remaining to be dealt with shall be deferred until after the 

completion of the private part of the meeting, including items submitted for 
report rather than decision. 

 
Background Papers:  Paragraph 8 of the Access to Information Procedure Rules of 
the Constitution define background papers as being documents relating to the subject 
matter of the report which in the Proper Officer's opinion: 
 
(a) disclose any facts or matters on which the report or an important part of the 

report is based;  and 
 
(b) have been relied on to a material extent in preparing the report and does not 

include published works or those which disclose exempt or confidential 
information (as defined in Rule 10) and in respect of executive reports, the 
advice of any political advisor. 

 
Inspection of background papers may be arranged by contacting the officer 
responsible for the item. 
 



Housing Appeals and Review Panel Wednesday, 12 March 2008 
 

3 

 6. APPEAL NO. 2/2008  (Pages 31 - 54) 
 

  To consider a restricted report. 
 

 
 



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 
 

1 

EPPING FOREST DISTRICT COUNCIL 
COMMITTEE MINUTES 

 
Committee: Housing Appeals and Review 

Panel 
Date: 17 January 2008  

    
Place: Committee Room 1, Civic Offices, 

High Street, Epping 
Time: 4.00  - 7.10 pm 

  
Members 
Present: 

Mrs P K Rush (Chairman), Mrs R Gadsby (Vice-Chairman), Mrs J Lea, 
Mrs P Richardson and J Wyatt 

  
Other 
Councillors: 

 
  

  
Apologies: R D'Souza 
  
Officers 
Present: 

A Hall (Director of Housing), S G Hill (Senior Democratic Services Officer), 
R Wilson (Assistant Head of Housing Services (Operations)) and R Wallace 
(Housing Needs Manager) 
 

  
 

92. SUBSTITUTE MEMBERS  
 
It was noted that Councillor J Lea was substituting for Councillor R D’Souza. 
 

93. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 
No declarations of interest were made pursuant to the code of conduct for members. 
 
A Hall, Housing Director declared a personal interest in case 3/2008 and indicated 
that he would be withdrawing from the meeting for that item and that Mr R Wilson 
would advise the panel on that case. 
 

94. EXCLUSION OF PUBLIC AND PRESS  
 

RESOLVED: 
  

That, in accordance with Section 100(A)(4) of the Local Government Act 
1972, the public and press be excluded from the meeting for the items of 
business set out below as they would involve the likely disclosure of exempt 
information as defined in the paragraphs of Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Act 
indicated and the exemption is considered to outweigh the potential public 
interest in disclosing the information: 
 
Agenda Item No Subject Exempt 

Information 
Paragraph 
Number 

5 Application 1/2008 1 and 2 
 

6 Application 3/2008 1 and 2 

Agenda Item 2

Page 5



Housing Appeals and Review Panel  17 January 2008 

2 

 
 

95. APPLICATION 1/2008  
 
The Panel considered a review of a decision made by officers under delegated 
authority that an offer of a two bedroomed property was a suitable offer for the 
applicant’s needs.  The applicant had previously appealed to the County Court on a 
point of law.  At the appeal hearing the Judge had quashed the officer review 
decision and the matter had been remitted back to the Authority to undertake a 
further review.  
 
The applicant attended the meeting to present her case together with two of her 
children.  Mr R Wallace (Housing Options Manager) attended the meeting to present 
the officers’ case, Mr A Hall (Housing Director) attended the meeting to advise the 
Panel as required on details of the national and local housing policies relative to the 
appeal.  The Chairman introduced the members of the Panel and officers present to 
the applicant and outlined the procedure to be followed in order to ensure that proper 
consideration was given to the review. 
 
No documents were submitted by the applicant in connection to this case prior to the 
meeting. A bundle of documents were tabled at the meeting by the applicant but 
were not referred to by the applicant in her presentation or summing up. 
 
The Panel had before them the following documents which were taken into 
consideration: 
 
(a) The case of the Housing Options Manager; 
 
(b) Copies of documents submitted by the Housing Options Manager, namely: 
 
(i) a letter dated 28 March 2007 from the Assistant Housing Needs Manager to 
the applicant; 
 
(ii) a letter dated 21 March 2007 from the Hostel Management Team to the 
applicant; 
 
(iii) undated letter from the applicant to the Hostel Management Team (referred to 
as Appendix 3 of the agenda) 
 
(iv) a letter dated 26 March 2007 from the Hostel Management Team to the 
applicant; 
 
(v) an interview report dated 9 May 2007; 
 
(vi) a letter dated 15 June 2007 from the Assistant Housing Needs Manager 
(Homelessness) to the applicant (Appendix 6 in the agenda); 
 
(vii) a letter dated 25 June 2007 from the Assistant Housing Needs Manager 
(Homelessness) to the applicant (Appendix 7 in the agenda); 
 
(viii) a letter dated 27 June 2007 from the applicant to the Assistant Housing 
Needs Manager (Allocations); 
 
(ix) a letter dated 4 July 2007 from the Assistant Head of Housing (Management) 
to the applicant (Appendix 9 of the agenda) 
 

Page 6



Housing Appeals and Review Panel  17 January 2008 

3 

(x) a letter dated 11 July 2007 from the applicant to the Assistant Head of 
Housing (Management); 
 
(xi) a letter dated 21 August 2007 from the Assistant Head of Housing 
(Management) to the applicant (Appendix 11 of the agenda) 
 
(xii) an undated letter from the applicant to the Assistant Head of Housing 
(Management) (Appendix 12 to the agenda); 
 
(xiii) Witness Statement of Assistant Housing Needs Manager (Homelessness) 
dated 12 October 2007; 
 
(xiv) Judgement of Cambridge County Court dated 12 November 2007; 
 
(xv) Respondents (EFDC) Skeleton Argument to Cambridge County Court 
prepared by the Council’s Barrister dated 12 October 2007; 
 
(xvi) Attendance Note prepared by Council’s Barrister 27 November 2007; 
 
(xvii) Supplementary Agenda papers comprising letters from London Borough of 
Hackney dated 12 July 2007 and 10 August 2007 and email correspondence dated 
10 January 2008 between the Council’s Barrister and Housing Options Manager; and 
 
(xviii) Extract from “Homelessness and Allocations” page 612 paragraph 17.2 
refers. 
 
The Panel considered the following submissions in support of the applicant’s case: 
 
(a) The applicant stated that her request for review was based upon her refusal 
of an offer of a two bedroomed property; 
 
(b) The applicant stated that her family had been made homeless as a result of 
their home being repossessed in January 2007 following her husband losing his job; 
 
(c) The applicant had approached the Council for assistance and had been 
placed in Norway House in two rooms which served as a living/sleeping area for five 
people: herself, her husband, one daughter and two sons. The accommodation was 
very cramped; 
 
(d) The applicant stated that these conditions had led to problems within the 
family unit and she had since split from her husband; 
 
(e) The applicant had been offered a two-bedroomed house which she refused 
with reasons, despite clarifying the size of her family to the Council. This had been 
reviewed by a more senior officer in August 2007 and the result had been that the 
offer was reasonable as the Council had said that her two sons were not living at the 
hostel when they were and therefore had been discounted from the household. 
 
(f) On some nights her sons stayed at friends. The family also owned a dog, 
which was being looked after by friends, and the sons went to visit the dog. 
 
(g) The review decision was appealed to the County Court and the Council’s 
decision and review were quashed. 
 
The applicant answered the following questions of the Housing Options Manager and 
the Panel:- 

Page 7



Housing Appeals and Review Panel  17 January 2008 

4 

 
(a) Why had the applicant not challenged the section 184 notice regarding the 
allocation of accommodation at Norway House if she was unhappy about that 
accommodation? – I never complained about the temporary accommodation, why 
would I have disagreed with this? I am homeless and waiting for permanent 
accommodation from the Council. 
 
(b) Where are the sons living now? – at the hostel. 
 
(c) Has this had an effect on their schooling? – Yes.  One son had failed his 
GCSEs because of the upheaval and my other son had to leave his college for one 
closer to my work. Studying was difficult as there were no Internet services at the 
hostel and therefore homework had to be done at friends’ houses. This meant that I 
have to pick them up sometimes at 9 and 10 at night. There were transport difficulties 
that mean that I have to pick them up. When my car broke down last April it had 
taken an hour each way to walk to Epping Station and back. Cab fares were £5 each 
way. 
 
(d) Was the applicant’s daughter staying at the hostel? – Yes, but she had 
withdrawn from her studies and doing the year again. She leaves every morning. 
 
(e) So all three children were living permanently at the hostel? – Yes. 
 
(f) Has your daughter applied to university for accommodation? – Yes, when we 
were living in Loughton as she had placements during the week but the offer was for 
one year only; students were required to live off campus in Year 2. 
 
(g) Where was the applicant’s husband? – We have split up. He visits 
sometimes. 
 
The Panel considered the following submissions of the Housing Options Manager 
 
(a) The applicant had made a homelessness application to the Council on 30 
January 2007. The Homelessness Prevention Unit had been unable to prevent this 
as mortgage arrears on the applicant’s property were large.  
 
(b) The applicant was interviewed and the Council had been satisfied that they 
had a duty to provide accommodation including those residing with her. 
 
(c) The applicant had not asked for a review of the suitability of the 
accommodation provided to her. 
 
(d) The staff at Norway House had expressed concerns that the applicant was 
not making full use of the accommodation and the Council had written to the 
applicant on 21 March 2007, to which the applicant had responded.  The Council had 
written again reiterating the concerns.  
 
(e) The Housing Options Manager stated that the Council had a chronic housing 
shortage and that the Council expected that Housing Applicants kept the Council 
informed of any changes to their circumstances. 
 
(f) The applicant had been interviewed on 9 May 2007 during which she had 
failed to mention a housing application made to Hackney Council made by two of her 
children. 
 

Page 8



Housing Appeals and Review Panel  17 January 2008 

5 

(g) The Housing Options Manager refuted the idea that the offer of two 
bedroomed accommodation was ‘out of the blue’ as the Council had written to the 
Applicant following her interview (Appendix 6 to the agenda papers) regarding a 
determination of the size of the household based upon evidence of the Hostel 
Management.  
 
(h) The Council had made an offer of two bedroomed accommodation on 25 
June 2007 that had been refused by the applicant. 
 
(i) A review of the appeal made by the applicant had been undertaken by the 
Assistant Head of Housing. During the assessment period the Council had been 
contacted by Hackney Housing regarding a request for homelessness assistance 
because of a refusal of tenancy succession. Claims had been made to Hackney 
Housing regarding succession to the tenancy of a property provided to the applicant’s 
children’s grandmother that two of the applicant’s children had lived with their 
grandmother since 1991 and had no knowledge of their parents’ whereabouts. 
 
(j) The Assistant Head of Housing had therefore determined that the offer of two 
bedroomed accommodation was appropriate and suitable. This had been notified to 
the applicant who had given notice of her intention to appeal further to the County 
Court on a point of law. 
 
(k) The Panel were asked to note a section of evidence from a statement made 
by the Assistant Housing Needs Manager (Homelessness) (appendix 13 to the 
agenda) in which a telephone conversation between the London Borough of Hackney 
and the Council had been recorded. This included the claims of residency made by 
two of the children to Hackney.  
 
(l) The Housing Options Manager stated that the Council needed to ensure that 
the provision of a three bedroomed property was right given the information provided 
by Hackney. 
 
(m) The appeal had been heard at Cambridge County Court and the decision to 
offer the applicant a two bedroomed property only, and the review of the decision, 
were quashed in a judgement dated 22 November 2007. 
 
(n) The original decision had therefore been referred back to the Council (and 
therefore the Panel) to determine afresh. In noting the judgement the Panel were 
asked to consider the reasons for that judgement as outlined in the Attendance Note 
of the Council’s barrister. 
 
(o) In considering this further review the Panel were asked to: consider the 
suitability of accommodation at Norway House and the lack of a request for a review 
against the suitability of that accommodation; give close scrutiny to the requirement 
to provide accommodation to “...the applicant and to all members of his or her 
household who normally reside(d) with him or her, or might have reasonably be 
expected to reside with him or her”; the homelessness duty that the Council might 
have to the applicant given the request for housing assistance from Hackney Homes. 
 
(p) The Norway House staff had now confirmed that the applicant’s sons were 
now residing at the site. 
 
The Housing Options Manager answered the following questions of the appellant and 
the Panel:- 
 

Page 9



Housing Appeals and Review Panel  17 January 2008 

6 

(a) The applicant stated that she had not received the letter advising her of the 
change to the household makeup from the Council, if she had she would have 
challenged it. – Response: you were informed of the Council’s intentions during your 
interview. 
 
(b) How was my daughter taken off the application? The property offered to me 
was for myself, my husband and sons. Why had the Council changed its view? – 
Response: I would refer you to the letter of the Assistant Head of Housing at 
Appendix 11. 
 
(c) Do you agree that my daughter had withdrawn her application to Hackney? 
Response: Yes 
 
(d) [Are you] saying that you apply to another authority to your detriment? The 
judge says that the review was based upon a tissue of lies. Response: We had a 
duty to consider the review afresh – we have included the barrister’s comments in the 
papers. 
 
(e) I never received the letter at Appendix 6 (letter regarding size of household) – 
if you were satisfied that they should be discounted from the household – where were 
they staying? Response: You had the opportunity at interview to inform the Council 
that your sons had made an application for succession of the tenancy held by their 
grandmother. You were informed of the information we had, but failed to sign the 
interview note. 
 
(f) I didn’t agree that the note was correct. You say I was invited to appeal 
against the decision to accommodate us at Norway House – the letter says you are 
going to provide me with permanent accommodation, why would I appeal? 
Response: Others would have. Could it be because two of the family were not living 
there? 
 
(g) If the husband had now moved out, was the accommodation still suitable? 
Response: The offer of the two bedroomed property was not based upon this 
change, it was based upon the applicant sharing with one child and the information 
supplied by Hackney. We were only aware of the application to Hackney because 
they contacted us directly. 
 
(h) What was the date of the letter in Appendix 6 (letter regarding size of 
household) dated? Response: 15 June 2007. 
 
(i) What are the procedures for dealing with letters to Norway House? 
Response: They are sent by post to secure post boxes. The applicant stated that she 
normally collected her mail on Saturdays if a member of staff was in the office but 
their attendance was sporadic. 
 
(j) Was the allocation of accommodation at Norway House based upon a family 
unit of five? Response: Yes, two rooms were allocated. 
 
(k) Was the offer based upon those thought to be at Norway House at the time? 
Response: Yes the Council didn’t want to create a situation where any offered 
accommodation was under-occupied. 
 
(l) Had the applicant viewed the offered accommodation? Response: Not that I 
am aware of, no. 
 

Page 10



Housing Appeals and Review Panel  17 January 2008 

7 

The Chairman asked the applicant if she wished to raise any further issues in support 
of her case. 
 
The applicant stated that the offer of two bedroomed accommodation was ridiculous 
and had the effect of prolonging her homelessness out of spite. It hadn’t made sense 
to discount her sons from the application and officers had been deliberately 
obstructive. She had never accepted the decision made by the Council. 
 
The Chairman asked the Housing Options Manager if he wished to raise any further 
issues in support of his case. 
 
The Housing Options Manager stated that the applicant’s comments were 
unacceptable and he had presented the case in a balanced way. The applicant had 
not kept the Council informed of changes to her status and had been unaware of 
them until approached by Hackney Council which she had failed to disclose. 
 
The Chairman indicated that the Panel would consider the matter in the absence of 
both parties and that the applicant and the Housing Options Manager would be 
advised in writing of the outcome. The applicant, her children and the Housing 
Options Manager then left the meeting. 
 
The Panel considered all the evidence submitted both in writing and orally. The Panel 
reached the following, conclusions: 
 
(i) The true facts relating to this case were unclear; 
 
(ii) The housing application submitted to Hackney Housing by two of the children 
of the applicant was probably based upon false claims of residency on the balance of 
probability; 
 
(ii) That, given therefore that those children could not be considered as living at 
the Hackney Housing property and had been included in the original homelessness 
application made to the Council, contradictory to the claims made to Hackney 
Housing, the Panel can only conclude that they were living with their mother at 
Norway House and therefore comprised a household of five persons; 
 
(iii) The offer of two bedroomed accommodation to the applicant was not suitable 
for a household of five persons. 
 

RESOLVED: 
 
That based upon the evidence submitted, the Panel considered that there was 
insufficient evidence to determine that, on the balance of probabilities, the 
applicant’s three children did not normally reside with her and that the offer of 
two bedroomed accommodation to the applicant was not suitable for a 
household of five persons.  Therefore the appeal is upheld. 
 
The Director of Housing withdrew from the meeting. 

 
96. APPLICATION 3/2008  

 
Members were advised that the applicant had stated on his application form to the 
Panel that he intended to attend the meeting in order to present his case.  The Panel 
noted that the applicant had been advised to attend at 5.30pm but was currently not 
present at the Civic Offices. 
 

Page 11



Housing Appeals and Review Panel  17 January 2008 

8 

RESOLVED: 
  
That consideration of Application 3/2008 be deferred to a future Panel 
meeting to allow the applicant to attend. 

 

CHAIRMAN
 

Page 12



1 

EPPING FOREST DISTRICT COUNCIL 
COMMITTEE MINUTES 

 
Committee: Housing Appeals and Review Panel Date: Tuesday, 29 January 2008 
    
Place: Committee Room 2, Civic Offices, 

High Street, Epping 
Time: 2.30  - 5.50 pm 

  
Members 
Present: 

Mrs P K Rush (Chairman), Mrs R Gadsby (Vice-Chairman), 
Mrs P Richardson, J Wyatt and B Sandler 

  
Other 
Councillors: 

  

  
Apologies: R D'Souza 
  
Officers 
Present: 

A Hall (Director of Housing) and G Lunnun (Democratic Services Manager) 

  
 
 

97. MINUTES  
 

RESOLVED: 
 

That the minutes of the meeting of the Panel held on 20 December 2007 be 
taken as read and signed by the Chairman as a correct record. 

 
 

98. SUBSTITUTE MEMBERS  
 
It was noted that Councillor B Sandler was substituting for Councillor R D'Souza. 
 
 

99. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 
No declarations of interest were made pursuant to the Code of Conduct for Members. 
 
 

100. EXCLUSION OF PUBLIC AND PRESS  
 

RESOLVED: 
 

That, in accordance with Section 100(A)(4) of the Local Government Act 
1972, the public and press be excluded from the meeting for the items of 
business set out below as they would involve the likely disclosure of exempt 
information as defined in the paragraphs of Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Act 
indicated and the exemption is considered to outweigh the potential public 
interest in disclosing the information: 

 
Agenda   Exempt Information  
Item No. Subject Paragraph Numbers 
 
6 Application No. 12/2007 1 and 2 
 
7 Application No. 14/2007 1 and 2 

Page 13



Housing Appeals and Review Panel  Tuesday, 29 January 2008 

2 

 
 

101. APPLICATION NO. 12/2007  
 
The Panel considered an application for a review of a decision made by officers 
under delegated authority regarding the applicant's homelessness application.  The 
applicant attended the meeting accompanied by his solicitor and his wife.  Mr J Hunt 
(Assistant Housing Options Manager) attended the meeting to present his case.  
Mr A Hall (Director of Housing) attended the meeting to advise the Panel as required 
on details of the national and local housing policies relative to the application.  The 
Chairman introduced the members of the Panel and officers present to the appellant, 
his wife and his solicitor and outlined the procedure to be followed in order to ensure 
that proper consideration was given to the application. 
 
The Panel had before them the following documents which were taken into 
consideration: 
 
(a) copies of documents submitted by the applicant, namely: 
 
(i) a copy of the application to the Housing Appeals and Review Panel dated 
1 November 2007; 
 
(ii) letter dated 8 November 2007 from the applicant's solicitor to the Council's 
Housing Services; 
 
(iii) letter dated 21 December 2007 from the applicant's solicitor to the Council's 
Housing Services; 
 
(iv) letter dated 11 January 2008 from the applicant's solicitor to the Council's 
Housing Services; 
 
(v) letter dated 28 January 2008 from the West Essex Community Drug and 
Alcohol Team to " Whom it may concern"; 
 
(vi) response dated 13 June 2007 from the applicant to the Council's Housing 
Benefits Section’s letter dated 11 June 2007; 
 
(vii)      letter dated 14 June 2007 from the Council’s Housing Benefits Section to the 
applicant; 
 
(viii)      letter dated 18 June 2007 from the Council’s Housing Benefits Section to the 
applicant on which the applicant had written some answers to the questions raised in 
the letter; 
 
(vix) receipts dated 31 May 2007, 5 June 2007, 7 June 2007, 8 June 2007, 12 
June 2007, 13 June 2007,14 June 2007, 18 June 2007, 22 June 2007, 7 August 
2007, 21 August 2007 and 22 August 2007 issued by the Council's Housing Benefits 
Section for documents provided by the applicant; 
 
(copies of (v) to (vix) above were produced by the applicant at the meeting) 
  
(b) the facts of the case; 
 
(c) the case of the Assistant Housing Options Manager; 
 

Page 14



Housing Appeals and Review Panel  Tuesday, 29 January 2008 

3 

(d) copies of documents submitted by the Assistant Housing Options Manager, 
namely: 
 
(i) Order for Possession of the applicant's privately rented property; 
 
(ii) notes of an interview of the applicant by a Housing Officer dated 
17 May 2007; 
 
(iii) letter dated 12 September 2007 from the Council's Medical Advisor to the 
Council's Housing Services; 
 
(iv) notes of an interview of the applicant's landlord of the privately rented 
property by a Housing Officer, dated 30 May 2007; 
 
(v)        letter dated 12 June 2008 from the applicant’s landlord of the privately rented 
property to the Council’s Housing Benefits Section; 
 
(vi) letter dated 21 June 2007 from the Council's Benefits Manager to the 
applicant; 
 
(vii) notes of an interview of the applicant by a Housing Officer dated 
21 September 2007; 
 
(viii) letter dated 19 October 2007 from the Council's Assistant Housing Needs 
Manager (Homelessness) to the applicant. 
 
The Panel considered the following submissions in support of the applicant's case: 
 
(a) the applicant had bought a Council property in 2000 in an adjoining borough 
under Right to Buy;  in that year the applicant's medical condition had deteriorated 
due to a number of accidents and in August 2000 his wife had stopped working to act 
as his full time carer;  the applicant had suffered an accident at work and had 
permanent damage to his back;  he suffered with depression which had started a few 
months after his work accident;  in 2002 it had been established that the applicant 
stopped breathing in his sleep and had to use a CPAT machine that pushed air into 
his airway at night;  this condition had resulted in the applicant having to stop taking 
painkillers for his back and as a result he had became dependent on alcohol and 
non-prescription drugs to relieve the pain;  five years ago the applicant had become 
agrophobic and could only deal with most matters by post or telephone;  the 
applicant was now confined to a wheelchair when going out; 
 
(b) the applicant was in receipt of Incapacity Benefit, Industrial Injuries Benefit, 
Disability Living Allowance - lower rate for the care component and higher rate for the 
mobility component; 
 
(c) the applicant and his wife had been in receipt of Income Support from August 
2000;  they had applied for Mortgage Interest payments but these had not been 
awarded;  the mortgage on the property had been paid by borrowing money from 
family members; 
 
(d) due to his financial problems, the applicant had suffered drug and alcohol 
problems which had led to mental health problems for which he had received 
psychiatric assistance and drug and alcohol counselling; 
 
(e) when the applicant had realised that he could not maintain the mortgage 
repayments, he had decided to sell the property in October 2004;  he had received 

Page 15



Housing Appeals and Review Panel  Tuesday, 29 January 2008 

4 

£110,000 from the proceeds of the sale and had paid off £38,000 in credit card debts 
and a £30,000 loan to his father;  the applicant had been left with £48,000 and 
Income Support had been stopped;  the applicant had spent £300/£500 pound per 
week on his drug and alcohol addiction; other payments had been made by the 
applicant as set out in the Income Support submission attached to the applicant's 
solicitor's letter dated 11 January 2008; 
 
(f) the applicant, his wife and daughter had then rented three bedrooms above a 
public house at a rent of £210 per week;  in March 2006 the applicant had rented a 
three bedroom house from a private landlord in the Epping Forest District;  he had 
paid the rent on that property until his money had run out and he had then applied for 
Income Support, Housing Benefit and Council Tax Benefit from June 2006; 
 
(g) the applicant had received Income Support and £600 in Housing Benefit from 
June 2006;  he had made up the balance of the rent (£250 per month) himself; 
 
(h) the applicant's Income Support had been stopped in December 2006 and his 
Housing Benefit and Council Tax Benefit had been stopped shortly thereafter as it 
had been alleged that he had capital/savings of more than the applicable amount; 
 
(i) with the assistance of the Citizens' Advice Bureau, the applicant had 
appealed against the Income Support, Housing Benefit and Council Tax Benefit 
decisions;  the Income Support appeal had been due to be heard in December 2007 
but had been adjourned to March 2008 as further evidence had been provided which 
needed to be considered by the parties;  his Housing Benefit appeal had not yet been 
scheduled; 
 
(j) when Housing Benefit and Council Tax Benefit had been stopped, the 
applicant had been unable to pay his rent and he had received Notice Seeking 
Possession from his landlord due to rent arrears in January 2007; the landlord had 
not wanted to evict the applicant as the applicant had been a good tenant in all other 
respects; 
 
(k) the applicant had sought assistance from the Council's Housing Services and 
had made a homeless application;  the applicant had provided the Council's Housing 
Benefits Section with a large amount of information over a number of weeks in an 
attempt to resolve the Housing Benefit issues; 
 
(l) the Housing Benefit issues had not been resolved and the applicant had been 
evicted in June 2007;  the applicant had been accommodated by the Council and 
Housing Benefit had been awarded from August 2007;  a further appeal had been 
lodged to have Housing Benefit backdated to June 2007; 
 
(m) the applicant had subsequently been advised that he had made himself 
intentionally homeless as he had not paid the rent on the privately rented property; 
 
(n) if it was held that the applicant had been entitled to Income Support at the 
relevant time, he would also have been entitled to Housing Benefit at that time and 
would have been able to pay his rent; 
 
(o) the applicant had not acted in bad faith and had not wilfully withheld rent;  he 
had acted in good faith as he had lived off the proceeds of the sale of his property for 
as long as possible and had only claimed Income Support and Housing Benefit when 
he no longer had any money left; 
 

Page 16



Housing Appeals and Review Panel  Tuesday, 29 January 2008 

5 

(p) the applicant had provided the Department of Work and Pensions, and the 
Council, with all the information they had required in relation to the Income Support 
and Housing Benefit claims;  if the claims had been determined more speedily, the 
applicant would not have been evicted from the privately rented property; 
 
(q) the Council had made its decision about intentionally homeless too quickly; it 
should have awaited determination of the Income Support and Housing Benefit 
appeals because if these were favourable to the applicant, it would show that the rent 
arrears should not have arisen;  the failure to receive Housing Benefit had made the 
applicant homeless. 
 
The applicant, his solicitor and his wife answered the following questions of the 
Assistant Housing Options Manager and the Panel:- 
 
(a) You have said that you provided the required information to the Housing 
Benefits Section; if that is correct, why does the letter from the Council's Benefits 
Manager dated 21 June 2007 state that you had failed to provide satisfactory 
evidence as to how you had reduced your capital/savings to less that £16,000? - The 
Housing Benefit Section did no research of their own;  they copied what the 
Department of Work and Pensions had determined; receipts were provided;  the 
letter dated 21 June 2007 was after our eviction on 20 June 2007; 
 
(b) You were £3,400 in arrears with the rent for your privately rented property 
when you were evicted, is that correct? - Yes, four months' rent; 
 
(c) Did you receive approximately £100,000 from the sale of your property in 
2005 and had you disposed of all of that money by February 2007? - Yes, and I am 
still in debt;  I had a serious drink and drug problem;  when Income Support and 
Housing Benefit were stopped, we pawned all of our jewellery to pay the rent for the 
privately rented property;  we did not want to leave the property; 
 
(d) Can you clarify how much money you were in receipt of after the sale of your 
property in 2005? - £80,000; 
 
(e) The documents before us refer to £110,081.79 - which figure is correct? - It 
was £80,000 after clearing the mortgage, i.e., £80,000 equity; 
 
(f) Did you spend between £300/£500 per week on drink and drugs? - It was 
£300/£500 per day not per week; 
 
(g) Do you have any receipts for that expenditure? - No, I am now receiving 
treatment for my addiction; 
 
(h) Do you have receipts for the other expenditure? - Yes; 
 
(i) The breakdown of your expenditure is set out in the Citizens' Advice Bureau 
Income Support submission document;  what income did you receive over that 
period? - I get Income Support and Housing Benefit now;  it is the backdating 
element to which the outstanding appeals relate; 
 
(j) Can you describe how you felt after you were forced to sell your property in 
November 2005? - It was a part of my life when I did not know where I was;  I cannot 
recall matters clearly;  I repaid my father and paid off credit cards as soon as I was in 
receipt of the proceeds of the sale; 
 

Page 17



Housing Appeals and Review Panel  Tuesday, 29 January 2008 

6 

(k) The letter dated 21 June 2007 from the Council's Benefits Manager 
concluded that you still had capital in excess of £16,000; what information did you 
provide to show that this was not the case? - Bank statements showing I had no 
money in the bank; 
 
(l) What evidence had you submitted by the time of the Council's decision letter 
dated 19 October 2007 finding you intentionally homeless? - By that time, receipts 
had been personally handed to the Housing Benefits Section; (at this stage the 
applicant produced copies of receipts from the Housing Benefits Section, for 
documents submitted); 
 
(m) Are you in a wheelchair as a result of your accident at work? - Yes, it was an 
industrial accident;  I took the firm to Court and was awarded £42,000 but Income 
Support took £39,000 from me;  I have been disabled for nearly 20 years;  I became 
addicted to painkillers and I binged on drugs;  I became involved with the wrong 
people and carried out illegal activities to help fund my addiction;  I am now finished 
with drugs;  I am still drinking a little but I am receiving treatment;  I need a detox 
urgently but need to resolve my problems first. 
 
The Panel considered the following submissions of the Assistant Housing Options 
Manager: 
 
(a) the applicant had made a homelessness application to the Council on 17 May 
2007;  the applicant had included his wife on the application form;  the applicant had 
applied as homeless because he had been evicted from his privately rented 
accommodation; 
 
(b) the applicant's tenancy of the privately rented accommodation had 
commenced on 7 March 2006;  on 6 January 2007 the applicant had received from 
his landlord a notice requiring possession which had expired on 7 March 2007; the 
applicant had received an order for full possession from the Courts which had 
required him to give up possession of the property on 1 May 2007;  the applicant had 
finally received a bailiff's warrant to evict him from the property on 20 June 2007; 
 
(c) at his homelessness interview, the applicant had stated that rent arrears had 
accrued due to him being unable to pay the rent and not receiving Housing Benefit;  
an interim duty to accommodate the applicant had been accepted by the Authority 
pending enquiries as it was considered that the applicant was eligible for assistance, 
homeless and may have had a priority need;  further enquiries resulted in the Council 
being satisfied that the applicant had a priority need due to him being vulnerable; 
 
(d) the landlord of the applicant's privately rented property had informed the 
Council that notice had been served on the applicant because of rent arrears;  the 
landlord had stated that he was otherwise satisfied with the way in which the 
applicant had conducted himself as a tenant and had the rent been paid, the 
applicant would have remained as a tenant;  the rent arrears had amounted to 
£3,400 as at 30 May 2007; 
 
(e) the letter dated 21 June 2007 from the Council's Benefits Manager set out the 
reasons why the applicant had not been entitled to receive Housing Benefit; 
 
(f) it had been decided that the applicant had made himself intentionally 
homeless and he had been given notice to leave the Council's homeless hostel;  the 
applicant had requested a review of that decision and the applicant's solicitor had 
requested that the Council exercise its discretion to accommodate the applicant 
pending the outcome of the review;  this request had been agreed. 

Page 18



Housing Appeals and Review Panel  Tuesday, 29 January 2008 

7 

 
(g) in making homelessness decisions, regard needed to be had to the Code of 
Guidance which was used by local authorities to assist with the interpretation of the 
homelessness legislation;  the Code of Guidance stated that a person became 
homeless intentionally if he deliberately did something in consequence of which he 
ceased to occupy accommodation which was available for his occupation and which 
would have been reasonable for him to continue to occupy; 
 
(h) the applicant had been evicted from his privately rented property because of 
rent arrears;  the rent arrears had accrued because the applicant had not been 
entitled to Housing Benefit;  the applicant had not been entitled to Housing Benefit 
because it had been determined that he had capital of more that £16,000;  the 
applicant had owned a property in an adjoining borough and when that property had 
been sold in November 2005, the applicant had received £110,081.79;  two months 
later, the applicant's savings had allegedly been reduced to less than £16,000;  the 
applicant had advised the Housing Benefit Section that the money had been spent on 
paying off debts and dealing with other expenditure;  the Housing Benefit Section had 
asked the applicant to account for the disposal of this money but the applicant had 
failed to provide sufficient evidence of how the money had been disposed of;  the 
Housing Benefit Section had cancelled the applicant's claim for Housing Benefit on 
24 May 2007; 
 
(i) it was considered that the applicant's failure to pay the rent had been a 
deliberate act and that it had led to him ceasing to occupy accommodation which 
would have continued to be available for his occupation had he not failed to pay the 
rent;  it was also considered that it would have been reasonable for the applicant to 
occupy the accommodation as it had been a three bedroom house which had been 
more than sufficient for his needs; 
 
(j) the Panel was invited to uphold the officer's decision. 
 
The Assistant Housing Options Manager answered the following questions of the 
applicant, his solicitor, his wife and the Panel:- 
 
(a) Do you agree that you made the intentionally homeless decision prematurely 
because the Income Support and Housing Benefit issues were, and still are ongoing? 
- No, a decision had to be made on the facts as known;  it would not be reasonable to 
delay determining a homelessness application for 10/11 months; 
 
(b) Could you not have extended the date for making a decision? - The guideline 
is to make a decision within 33 working days;  in my experience at this Authority and 
other local authorities, I am not aware of any such decision being outstanding for 
almost a year; 
 
(c) Could you clarify the dates of the applicant's occupation of the privately 
rented property and his rent arrears? - The tenancy commenced on 7 March 2006 
and the applicant was evicted on 20 June 2007;  as at 30 May 2007 the applicant 
had been four months in arrears with his rent;  Housing Benefit had been cancelled 
on 24 May 2007 and no benefit had been paid after that date; 
 
(d) Where have the receipts gone which were given to the Council showing how 
the applicant's capital/savings had been expended? - I am employed in the Council's 
Housing Services and deal with homeless cases;  the information you are referring to 
would have been requested by the Council's Housing Benefits;  I have the Housing 
file with me and the applicant's Solicitor has a copy of that file;  I am not able to 
comment on any receipts which may have been submitted to Housing Benefits;  the 

Page 19



Housing Appeals and Review Panel  Tuesday, 29 January 2008 

8 

decision on Housing Benefits was made by the Council's Benefits Manager and he 
concluded that on the balance of probabilities, it was reasonable to conclude that the 
applicant had capital in excess of £16,000;  the issue before this Panel is a review of 
the decision that the applicant did something as a consequence of which he ceased 
to occupy the privately rented property; 
 
(e) Is the applicant receiving Housing Benefit now? - Yes, but that is not the 
issue;  the matter before the Panel is to review what happened during the applicant's 
occupation of the privately rented property;  the applicant had rent arrears and his 
landlord sought possession of the property;  the Housing Benefits Section 
determined at that time that satisfactory evidence had not been produced to show 
how the applicant's proceeds from the sale of his former property had been disposed 
of;  there is a need to look at why the applicant became homeless and why he had 
been in arrears with his rent; 
 
(f) When I came to the Civic Offices, a Housing Officer tried to help resolve my 
issues with Housing Benefit but she had difficulty;  would she have tried to help me if 
she had been of the view that I had deliberately failed to pay rent; - I would expect 
Housing Officers to assist whatever the circumstances; 
 
(g) Do you have copies of the applicant's bank statements on the Housing file? - I 
do not recall seeing any such statements on the file (at this point the applicant's 
solicitor drew attention to statements on the file and the Assistant Housing Options 
Manager apologised for not being aware of the existence of these statements on the 
file); however, the bank statements in themselves would not have been sufficient 
evidence to satisfy the Housing Benefits Section;  Housing Benefits would have 
needed to see evidence of where the money had been disposed of; 
 
(With the agreement of both parties, the Chairman requested that additional 
questions be put to the applicant. The applicant was asked: 
 
A lot of money appears to have been taken from your bank account in cash;  what 
was that money used for? - The applicant advised that this money had been used to 
satisfy his drink and drug addiction.  In response to a question to the applicant's wife, 
she advised that she had been aware of the withdrawals of cash from the bank 
account as it had been a joint account although each party had been able to 
withdraw money without reference to the other. 
 
At this stage, questions were again directed to the Assistant Housing Options 
Manager).  
 
(h)       Were you aware of the details set out in the Income Support submission when 
you took your decision about the applicant being intentionally homeless? - The 
applicant admitted spending money on debts, accommodation, alcohol, drugs etc., 
but I did not know how much of the proceeds from the sale of his house had been 
spent on these matters; 
 
(i) Do you have any details of the applicant's wife's income? - I am not sure of 
what income she may have had. 
 
The Chairman asked the applicant if he wished to raise any further issues in support 
of his case.  The applicant's solicitor submitted that the officer's decision had been 
premature and that the time for determining the homeless application should have 
been extended with the agreement of the applicant.  She further submitted that the 
applicant had provided all of the information necessary to resolve the Housing 
Benefit issue.  If that information had been processed properly, the Council would 

Page 20



Housing Appeals and Review Panel  Tuesday, 29 January 2008 

9 

have determined that the applicant had been entitled to Housing Benefit and he 
would have been able to continue to pay the rent on the privately rented property.  
The applicant had not deliberately failed to pay the rent and had acted in good faith 
throughout.  He had tried to resolve matters but had not been helped by the 
authorities.  The applicant added that the issues had damaged his own and his wife's 
health and that they were continuing to suffer stress.  He pointed out that his wife had 
tried to commit suicide due to the housing issue. 
 
The Chairman asked the Assistant Housing Options Manager if he wished to raise 
any further issues in support of his case.  The Assistant Housing Options Manager 
advised that the applicant had not paid the rent in respect of his privately rented 
property and, as a result, had become homeless.  The applicant had received a large 
amount of money from the proceeds of the sale of a property and satisfactory 
evidence had not been provided to the Council's Housing Benefits as to how that 
money had been disposed of.  The privately rented property would have continued to 
be available to the applicant had he not failed to pay the rent and that property would 
have been reasonable for him to occupy. 
 
The Chairman indicated that the Panel would consider the matter in the absence of 
both parties and that the applicant and the Assistant Housing Options Manager 
would be advised in writing of the outcome.  The applicant, his solicitor, his wife and 
the Assistant Housing Options Manager then left the meeting. 
 
The Panel considered all of the evidence and focused on the applicant's non-
payment of rent in respect of his privately rented accommodation and the 
background to the decision that he had not been entitled to Housing Benefit.  The 
Panel noted that the Housing Benefits Manager had concluded on the balance of 
probabilities that the applicant had capital in excess of £16,000.  In the absence of 
evidence to the contrary, the Panel concluded that insufficient evidence had been 
provided to the Council's Housing Benefits to show how and how much of the 
applicant’s capital/savings had been disposed of.  The Panel had regard to the 
receipts handed to the applicant by the Housing Benefits Section in respect of 
submitted documents but concluded that these documents had been taken into 
account by Housing Benefits but had not provided sufficient evidence.  The Benefits 
Manager had stated that no receipts for expenditure had been provided and the 
applicant had admitted himself that some receipts could not be provided as they had 
been lost.   
 
The Panel considered whether any deficiency or irregularity had been identified in the 
original homelessness decision made by the officers or the manner in which it had 
been made. The Panel found no such deficiency or irregularity. 
 
The Panel determined that the officer's decision be upheld and discussed the period 
which the Council should continue to provide interim accommodation for the 
applicant. 
 
 RESOLVED: 
 
 (1) That, having regard to the provisions of the Housing Act 1996, as 

amended, and the Code of Guidance on Homelessness and having taken into 
consideration the information presented by and on behalf of the applicant and 
by the Assistant Housing Options Manager in writing and orally, the decision 
of the Assistant Housing Options Manager that the applicant was intentionally 
homeless be upheld for the following reasons: 

 

Page 21



Housing Appeals and Review Panel  Tuesday, 29 January 2008 

10 

 (a) the applicant failed to pay the rent for the privately rented property he 
occupied from 7 March 2006 until 20 June 2007;  that property would have 
continued to be available for occupation by the applicant had he continued to 
pay the rent;  that property was suitable for his needs and it would have been 
reasonable for him to have continued to occupy it; 

 
(b) account has been taken of the applicant's submissions that he was 
entitled to Housing Benefit after 24 May 2007 and that had he continued to 
receive Housing Benefit, the privately rented property he occupied at that time 
would not have been repossessed due to rent arrears;  however, based on 
the information submitted it is considered that the applicant failed to provide 
satisfactory evidence to the Housing Benefits Section to explain how he 
disposed of his capital of £110,081.79 obtained following the sale of his 
former property;  the applicant has admitted that he was unable to provide 
some of the documents requested as he had lost or shredded them; it is also 
noted that the applicant's appeal against the refusal of Income Support was 
dismissed in March 2007 because he was unable to provide any realistic 
explanation or provide any evidence of how he had disposed of his money; 
 
(c) had the applicant provided the Housing Benefit Section with the 
evidence required to demonstrate satisfactorily where his capital had been 
disposed of, he may have continued to receive Housing Benefit, been able to 
continue to pay his rent and not had his property repossessed; 
 
(d) account has been taken of receipts produced at the Panel meeting, for 
documents submitted to the Housing Benefits Section, but there was no 
evidence submitted to indicate that the documents provided the required 
information to the Housing Benefits Section; 
 
(e) account has been taken of the submissions about the applicant's 
medical history;  on balance, there is no reason to believe that the applicant is 
incapable of managing his affairs; 
 
(2) That, based on the evidence submitted, no deficiency or irregularity 
has been identified in the original homelessness decision made by the 
officers or the manner in which it was made; 
 
(3) That the Council continues to provide interim accommodation for the 
applicant for a period of up to two months from the date of the letter notifying 
the applicant of the Panel's decision, in order to allow the applicant 
reasonable opportunity to secure alternative accommodation. 

 
 

102. APPLICATION NO. 14/2007  
 
The Panel considered an application for a review of a decision made by officers 
under delegated authority that the applicant had become homeless intentionally from 
temporary accommodation provided by the Council and as a result the duty on the 
Council to provide him with temporary accommodation had been discharged.  The 
applicant attended the meeting to present his case accompanied by his solicitor.  
Mr J Hunt (Assistant Housing Options Manager) attended the meeting to present his 
case assisted by Mr P Dee (Deputy Hostel Manager).  Mr A Hall (Director of 
Housing) attended the meeting to advise the Panel as required on details of the 
national and local housing policies relative to the application.  The Chairman 
introduced the members of the Panel and officers present to the applicant and his 

Page 22



Housing Appeals and Review Panel  Tuesday, 29 January 2008 

11 

solicitor and outlined the procedure to be followed in order to ensure that proper 
consideration was given to the application. 
 
The Panel had before them the following documents which were taken into 
consideration: 
 
(a) copies of documents submitted by the applicant, namely: 
 
(i) a copy of the application to the Housing Appeals and Review Panel dated 
10 October 2007; 
 
(ii) letter dated 12 October 2007 from the applicant's solicitor to the Council's 
Housing Services; 
 
(iii) letter dated 21 December 2007 from the applicant's solicitor to the Council's 
Housing Services; 
 
(b) the facts of the case; 
 
(c) the case of the Assistant Housing Options Manager; 
 
(d) copies of documents submitted by the Assistant Housing Options Manager, 
namely: 
 
(i) copy of the applicant's licence to occupy a room at the Council's hostel dated 
14 November 2006; 
 
(ii) Hostel Manager's summary of events regarding the applicant's occupancy of 
a room at the hostel; 
 
(iii) letter dated 17 September 2007 from the Assistant Housing Needs Manager 
(Homelessness) to the applicant; 
 
(iv) letter dated 24 September 2007 from the Assistant Housing Needs Manager 
(Homelessness) to the applicant. 
 
The Panel considered the following submissions in support of the applicant's case: 
 
(a) the applicant had not breached the conditions of his licence;  his absence 
from the hostel from 19 September 2007 until 3 October 2007 had been due to him 
staying at his cousin's house in order to look after his cousin's dogs whilst his cousin 
was on holiday;  before that absence both the applicant and his cousin had 
attempted to contact staff at the hostel on a number of occasions but each time the 
office had been closed;  the applicant had continued to telephone the office but had 
been unable to contact anyone to advise that he would be away from the hostel for 
two weeks; 
 
(b) the applicant had also been absent from the hostel for one or two nights on 
two occasions and he had advised the hostel staff of those absences; 
 
(c) the applicant's rent arrears had accrued due to the fact that he had not had 
the money to pay the rent;  his only income had been Job Seekers Allowance and it 
had been necessary for him to visit his elderly mother at a care home several times 
each week;  if he had not visited his mother she would have suffered a setback in her 
medical condition as she looked forward to seeing him;  the applicant had to spend a 

Page 23



Housing Appeals and Review Panel  Tuesday, 29 January 2008 

12 

lot of money on travel to the care home and when he had explained this to staff at the 
hostel, they had accepted that he could pay less rent on those weeks; 
 
(d) it was possible that hostel staff might have discussed the rent arrears with the 
applicant but, due to his learning difficulties, he was not able to understand complex 
information unless it was explained slowly and in very simple terms; 
 
(e) the applicant had not received letters from the Council;  the applicant had 
learning difficulties and was unable to read or write and could only read his name;  if 
letters had been placed underneath his door at the hostel, he might not have 
received the letters because if the letters had not been pushed all the way under the 
door, children tended to remove them;  even if the applicant had received letters from 
the Council, which he denied, he would not have been able to read them; 
 
(f) the applicant had been able to borrow money and was now in a position to 
clear the arrears in full;  he had only recently received an invoice in respect of those 
arrears; 
 
(g) when the applicant had moved into the hostel on 14 November 2006, he had 
been advised that this would be only temporary and that he would have to wait nine-
twelve months to get permanent accommodation;  this timescale had not been met;  
the Code of Guidance referred to someone deliberately doing something or failing to 
do something in consequence of which he ceased to occupy accommodation;  the 
officers should have investigated further as to why breaches of the licence 
agreement had arisen before making their decision; 
 
(h) the applicant's mother had now passed away and, as a result, the applicant 
had no-one to help him manage his affairs. 
 
The applicant and his solicitor answered the following questions of the Assistant 
Housing Options Manager and the Panel:- 
 
(a) Do you accept that on two separate occasions, you were told orally about 
your rent arrears and absences from the hostel and that if these continued, there was 
a risk of you being made homeless? - If letters were put under the door of my room at 
the hostel, they were not necessarily received; 
 
(b) Do you agree that on two occasions you were told orally about the 
consequences of your actions? - My mother was ill and was getting worse and it was 
necessary for me to visit her; 
 
(c) The record shows that you were absent from the hostel for long periods on a 
number of occasions, do you agree with this record? - I spent two weeks at my 
cousin's property in order to look after his dogs while he went on holiday;  on another 
occasion, I was visiting a friend's house and missed the last train; 
 
(d) How many face-to-face contacts did you have with staff at the hostel? - I 
didn't understand what was being said; 
 
(e) Did you understand that you needed to pay rent for the accommodation? - 
Yes; 
 
(f) Why did you not pay the rent? - It was costing me a fortune to visit my mother 
at the care home and I could not afford to pay the rent. 
 

Page 24



Housing Appeals and Review Panel  Tuesday, 29 January 2008 

13 

The Panel considered the following submissions in support of the Assistant Housing 
Options Manager's case: 
 
(a) the applicant was a single man;  he had been living with his parents in a 
Council property when his father had died and his mother had been admitted into a 
nursing home which had left him the sole occupant of the property with no rights to 
live there;  he had been served with Notice to Quit and had made a homelessness 
application to the Council on 27 April 2006; 
 
(b) the applicant had been accepted as statutorily homeless and owed a duty to 
be housed;  the duty on the authority had been to ensure that temporary 
accommodation was made available to the applicant;  the duty had been fulfilled by 
providing the applicant with accommodation at the Council's hostel and the applicant 
had moved into the hostel on 14 November 2006; 
 
(c) the applicant's licence agreement listed the obligations of the landlord to the 
licensee and also the responsibilities of the licensee whilst in occupation of the 
accommodation;  staff at the hostel were experienced in dealing with learning 
difficulties and would have explained carefully the responsibilities of the licensee; 
 
(d) the licence agreement required for the applicant to report all absences from 
the hostel to staff on site;  there was also a requirement to follow the signing-in 
process on a daily basis;  approval had to be sought from the Hostel Manager for all 
absences of longer than one night and any unauthorised absence could result in the 
termination of the licence to occupy;  there were forty-six different households at the 
hostel and the procedures were necessary in order to ensure proper management of 
the hostel;  any telephone call made outside of office hours was transferred to the 
Civic Offices Standby Officers who were present twenty-four hours a day;  the 
applicant had contacted the Standby Officers on a number of occasions and it was 
not understood why he had not been able to contact them on other occasions; 
 
(e) the licence agreement also required the applicant to pay £32.80 per week in 
advance on each successive Monday, the first payment to be made on 13 November 
2006; 
 
(f) letters had been sent to the applicant regarding the breach of his licence in 
respect of non-occupation on four occasions (10 February, 3 April, 1 May and 
13 September 2007) and four times regarding arrears (8 February, 23 February, 
26 July and 10 September 2007);  in addition, the Hostel Manager had informed the 
applicant orally in person on 17 July 2007 that he would be evicted if he did not 
comply with the procedure to sign-in to prove that he was occupying his room at the 
hostel; 
 
(g) the applicant had been in receipt of Housing Benefit which meant that he 
personally only had to pay the balance of the weekly charge for his room of £5.14;  a 
payment plan to reduce the applicant's arrears had been made with the applicant on 
5 March 2007 in which he had agreed to pay £10 per fortnight in addition to his 
weekly charge;  the Deputy Hostel Manager had informed the applicant orally that 
failure to keep to this plan would result in him being evicted; 
 
(h) despite the letters and oral warnings, the applicant had not kept to his 
payment plan or complied with the requirement to occupy his room;  on 
17 September 2007, the applicant had been served with notice which terminated his 
licence to occupy a room at the hostel on 24 September 2007; 
 

Page 25



Housing Appeals and Review Panel  Tuesday, 29 January 2008 

14 

(i) the applicant had been asked to attend an interview at the Civic Offices with a 
Homelessness Officer in order to consider whether this Council's duty to 
accommodate him had been discharged;  the applicant had not attended this 
appointment and on 24 September 2007 notice had been served discharging the 
Council's duty to accommodate the applicant because it was considered that he had 
made himself homeless intentionally; 
 
(j) the Council had exercised its discretion to accommodate the applicant 
pending the outcome of this review and he had been provided with bed and breakfast 
accommodation; 
 
(k) in making homelessness decisions, the Council had to take account of the 
Code of Guidance which was used by local authorities to assist with the interpretation 
of the homelessness legislation;  the Code stated that a person became homeless, or 
threatened with homelessness, intentionally if he deliberately did something in 
consequence of which he ceased to occupy accommodation that was available for 
his occupation and was reasonable for him to continue to occupy;  the Code of 
Guidance continued that an authority would cease to be subject to the duty (to 
accommodate) if an applicant became homeless intentionally from temporary 
accommodation made available; 
 
(l) the applicant's failure to comply with his licence requirements to occupy his 
room and pay the balance of the weekly charge were considered to have been 
deliberate acts on his part, the consequence of which was that he had been served 
with notice after receiving eight written and two oral warnings; 
 
(m) the accommodation occupied by the applicant at the Council's hostel would 
have continued to be available to him, had he complied with his licence conditions;  
that accommodation would also have been reasonable for him to continue to occupy 
as he had a single room that was sufficient for his needs and support was available 
from the hostel staff; 
 
(n) the applicant had failed to pay his weekly licence charge despite repeated 
warnings;  the hostel staff had been aware of the applicant's learning difficulties and 
had ensured that he had been told orally of the consequences of breaching the 
conditions of his licence;  the applicant had been fully aware that breaching the terms 
of his licence would lead to him being made homeless; 
 
(o) taking account of the applicant's learning difficulties, it was not considered 
that he was incapable of managing his affairs, and support had been available to him 
at the hostel; 
 
(p) the Panel was invited to uphold the officer decision and, if upheld, to give the 
applicant reasonable notice to vacate his bed and breakfast accommodation and 
offer advice in assessing alternative accommodation. 
 
The Assistant Housing Options Manager answered the following questions of the 
applicant, his solicitor and the Panel:- 
 
(a) Being aware of the applicant's learning difficulties, were any steps taken to 
refer the applicant to Social Care for assistance? - The hostel staff have two roles:  
they enforce licence conditions but also support the residents;  a support plan is 
drawn up for each resident initially which identifies the resident's needs;  the staff 
attempted to assist the applicant by explaining the conditions of his licence 
agreement and telephoning him on occasions in order to ascertain his whereabouts; 
 

Page 26



Housing Appeals and Review Panel  Tuesday, 29 January 2008 

15 

(b) Was any referral made to another agency? - No; 
 
(c) Did the applicant provide any details of his income? - I understand that he 
was in receipt of benefits including full Housing Benefit and, as a result, leaving him 
to find only £5.14 per week; 
 
(d) What other benefits did the applicant receive? - Possibly Income Support or 
Incapacity Benefit (the applicant advised that he had been in receipt of Income 
Support); 
 
(e) Did the applicant provide any evidence of employment? - No; 
 
(f) Can you clarify what had been said to the applicant when he had first 
attended the hostel? - When a new person arrives, the staff explain orally the 
conditions of the licence agreement;  an officer had advised the applicant 
accordingly;  a support plan is drawn up and this is subsequently reviewed; 
 
(g) Are you satisfied that you did everything possible to assist the applicant? - 
Yes, the office is manned eight hours a day and there is an opportunity for any 
resident to come to the office during those hours to raise any problems and to have 
face-to-face contact with staff. 
 
The Chairman asked the applicant's solicitor if she wished to raise any further issues 
in support of the applicant's case.  The solicitor submitted that the officers should 
have taken greater account of the applicant's previous protected environment and his 
learning difficulties.  She submitted further that without repeated warnings, the 
applicant would not have appreciated the consequences of his actions. 
 
The Chairman asked the Assistant Housing Options Manager if he wished to raise 
any further issues in support of his case.  The Assistant Housing Options Manager 
submitted that the applicant had made himself intentionally homeless.  The hostel 
staff have been aware of the applicant's learning difficulties and had ensured that in 
addition to sending letters to the applicant, they had advised him orally of the 
consequences of breaching the conditions of his licence.  The applicant had not 
followed the advice given to him by the staff and the breach of the conditions of his 
licence was considered to have been a deliberate act on his part which had led to 
him ceasing to occupy the accommodation at the hostel.  The record indicated that 
the applicant had been absent from the hostel for several weeks at a time on a 
number of occasions and not on the limited occasions referred to in the applicant's 
submissions.  The record showed that the applicant had telephoned the Council's 
Standby Officers on a number of occasions to advise of an absence and so it was 
clear that he was aware of his obligations in this respect that he had failed to follow 
that procedure on subsequent occasions. 
 
The Chairman indicated that the Panel would consider the matter in the absence of 
both parties and that the applicant and the Assistant Housing Options Manager 
would be advised in writing of the outcome.  The applicant, his solicitor, the Assistant 
Housing Options Manager and the Deputy Hostel Manager then left the meeting. 
 
The Panel considered all of the evidence and focussed on the applicant's ability to 
manage his affairs and his understanding of the implications of his actions.  The 
Panel concluded that staff at the hostel had acted correctly and in good faith 
throughout their dealings with the applicant but that the applicant required a level of 
support which was not possible from the hostel staff alone.  Members drew attention 
to the previous sheltered life of the applicant and the stress he had suffered in coping 
with his mother's illness.  They concluded that the staff had been unaware of the 

Page 27



Housing Appeals and Review Panel  Tuesday, 29 January 2008 

16 

extent of the applicant's learning difficulties.  The Panel determined that the applicant 
had not become homeless intentionally from the Council's hostel and that the duty on 
the Council to provide the applicant with temporary accommodation had not been 
discharged. 
 
 RESOLVED: 
 
 (1) That, having regard to the provisions of the Housing Act 1996, as 

amended, and the Code of Guidance on Homelessness and having taken into 
consideration the information presented by and on behalf of the applicant and 
by the Assistant Housing Options Manager in writing and orally, the decision 
of the Assistant Housing Options Manager that the applicant had become 
homeless intentionally from temporary accommodation provided by the 
Council and, as a result, the duty on the Council to provide him with 
temporary accommodation has been discharged, been not upheld for the 
following reasons: 

 
 (a) the applicant did not deliberately - 
 

(i) fail to seek approval from the Council's hostel staff due to absences 
from the hostel of longer than one night;  or 

 
(ii) fail to pay the licence fee in respect of his accommodation at the 
hostel, 

 
as it is considered that, due to his learning difficulties, the stress of coping 
with his mother's illness and his subsequent failure to act independently 
following the death of his mother, he was incapable of properly managing his 
affairs at that time; 

 
 (b) account has been taken of the support provided to the applicant by 

staff of the Council's hostel and to the warnings he was given both in writing 
and orally about the consequence of breaking the terms of his licence 
agreement;  it is acknowledged that there is evidence of the applicant 
understanding and reacting to some of those warnings and it is considered 
that the staff at the hostel provided the correct level of support;  however, it is 
concluded that due to the applicant's state of mind which would not have 
been apparent other than to a qualified practitioner, there would have been a 
need to provide an enhanced level of support, including the need to 
constantly remind the applicant orally of his obligations under the terms of the 
licence;  such level of support would not have been possible having regard to 
the other duties and responsibilities of the hostel staff; 

 
 (2) That, subject to his agreement and if not already in place, the 

applicant be referred to the In Touch Floating Support Service for support in 
sustaining his licence in accordance with the terms of the licence; 

 
 (3) That, subject to his agreement, the applicant be referred to the Epping 

Forest Health and Social Care Team for learning disabilities as it is 
considered he should be reassessed following the death of his mother. 

 
 

103. FUTURE MEETINGS  
 
The Panel considered the commencement time of future meetings. 
 

Page 28



Housing Appeals and Review Panel  Tuesday, 29 January 2008 

17 

 RESOLVED: 
 
 That all future meetings of the Panel commence at 2.30 p.m. 
 

 
 

CHAIRMAN
 

Page 29



Page 30

This page is intentionally left blank



Agenda Item 6

Page 31

By virtue of paragraph(s) 1, 2 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted



Page 34

This page is intentionally left blank



Page 35

By virtue of paragraph(s) 1, 2 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted



Page 46

This page is intentionally left blank



Page 47

By virtue of paragraph(s) 1, 2 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted



Page 52

This page is intentionally left blank



Page 53

By virtue of paragraph(s) 1, 2 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted



Page 54

This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 MINUTES
	Minutes , 29/01/2008 Housing Appeals and Review Panel

	6 Appeal No. 2/2008
	Appendices 1 to 4
	Appendix 5
	Plans


